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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual general meeting of HKC International Holdings Limited (the

“Company”) will be held at 4:00 p.m. on 9th September, 2005 at 3rd floor Hoi Yat Heen (Rooms 101-103)

Harbour Plaza Nor th Point, 665 King’s Road, Nor th Point, Hong Kong, to transact the following ordinary businesses:

1. to receive and approve the audited consolidated financial statements and the repor ts of the directors

(the “Directors”) and auditors of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2005;

2. to declare a final dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2005 of HK$0.01 per ordinar y share of

HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company by cash payment;

3. as separate ordinar y resolutions, to re-elect the retir ing Directors and to authorise the board of

Directors to fix the Directors’ remuneration;

4. to re-appoint the Company’s auditors and to authorise the board of Directors to fix their remuneration;

and, as special businesses, to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as ordinar y resolution:

5. “THAT:

(a) subject to paragraph (c) below, pursuant to the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the

Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),

the exercise by the directors of the Company during the Relevant Period of all the powers of

the Company to allot, issue or otherwise deal with the unissued shares in the capital of the

Company and to make or grant offers, agreements and options, including warrants to subscribe

for shares in the Company, which might require the exercise of such powers be and the same is

hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

(b) the approval in paragraph (a) above shall authorise the directors of the Company during the

Relevant Period to make or grant offers, agreements and options, including warrants to subscribe

for shares in the Company, which might require the exercise of such powers after the end of

the Relevant Period;

(c) the aggregate nominal amount of share capital allotted and issued or agreed conditionall y or

unconditionally to be allotted and issued (whether pursuant to options or otherwise) by the

directors of the Company pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a) above, otherwise than

pursuant to (i) a Rights Issue; or (ii) the exercise of any options granted under the share option

scheme of the Company adopted from time to time in accordance with the Listing Rules; or

(iii) any scrip dividend or similar arrangements providing for the allotment and issue of shares

in the Company in lieu of the whole or par t of a dividend on shares in the Company in

accordance with the ar ticles of association of the Company in force from time to time; or (iv)

any issue of shares in the Company upon the exercise of rights of subscription or conversion
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under the terms of any warrants of the Company or any securities which are conver tible into

shares in the Company shall not exceed 20 per cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the

share capital of the Company in issue on the date of passing of this resolution; and

(d) for the purposes of this resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the date of passing of this resolution until whichever

is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;

(ii) the expiration of the per iod within which the next annual general meeting of the

Company is required by the ar ticles of association of the Company or the applicable

law of the Cayman Islands to be held; and

(iii) the passing of an ordinar y resolution by the shareholders of the Company in general

meeting revoking or var ying the authority given to the directors of the Company by this

resolution;

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares in the Company, or offer or issue of warrants, options

or other securities giving rights to subscribe for shares in the Company open for a period fixed

by the directors of the Company to holders of shares in the Company on the Company’s

register of members on a fixed record date in propor tion to their then holdings of shares in

the Company (subject to such exclusion or other arrangements as the directors of the Company

may deem necessar y or expedient in relation to fractional entitlements, or having regard to any

restrictions or obligations under the laws of, or the requirements of, or the expense or delay

which may be involved in determining the existence or extent of any restrictions or obligations

under the laws of, or the requirements of, any jurisdiction outside Hong Kong or any recognised

regulatory body or any stock exchange outside Hong Kong).”

By order of the board of directors of

HKC International Holdings Limited

Chan Chung Yee Hubert

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28th July, 2005
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Registered office: Head office and principal place of

Century Yard, Cricket Square business in Hong Kong:

Hutchins Drive 25/F., Oxford House, TaiKoo Place

P.O. Box 2681GT 979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay

George Town Hong Kong

Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands

British West Indies

Notes:

1 A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting convened by the above notice is entitled to appoint one or

more proxy to attend and, subject to the provisions of the ar ticles of association of the Company, vote in his stead. A

proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2 To be valid, the form of proxy together with a power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or

a notarially cer tified copy of such power or authority must be deposited at the offices of the Company’s Hong Kong

branch registrar, Pilare Limited at 10th Floor, Sun Hung Kai Centre , 30 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later

than 48 hours before the time of the meeting or any adjourned meeting.

3. In relation to the proposed resolution numbered 2 above, the register of shareholders of the Company will be closed

from 7th September, 2005 to 9th September, 2005, both dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will

be registered. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfers of shares, accompanied by the relevant share

cer tificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch registrar, Pilare Limited, at 10th floor, Sun Hung Kai Centre , 30

Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m. on 6th September 2005.

4. In relation to the proposed resolution numbered 3 above, in accordance with Ar ticle 108 of the Company’s ar ticles of

association, Messrs. Chan Ming Him, Denny, Tsui Hon Wing and Wu Kwok Lam will retire as Director s by rotation at

the annual general meeting and the office of Mr. Leung Tai Wai, David as Director will end at the annual general

meeting. Such Directors, being eligible, would offer themselves for re-election as Director s at the annual general

meeting. Brief par ticulars of each of the retir ing Directors are set out below:

Mr. Chan Ming Him, Denny, aged 46, an executive Director, joined the Group in 1999 with over 15 years of experience

in the telecommunications industr y in China. He graduated from McMaster University, Canada with a Master’s Degree

in Engineer ing. Apar t from being an executive director of the Company, Mr. Chan has not held any directorship in

listed public companies or other major appointments and qualif ications during the last three years preceding the date

of this notice. Mr. Chan is not holding any other position in the Company and/or its subsidiar ies as at the date of this

notice. Mr. Chan is the son of Mr. Chan Man Min, a director and a substantial shareholder of the Company. Apar t from

that,  Mr. Chan is not related to other Director s, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholder s of the

Company.

Mr. Chan is interested in 2,000,000 shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.44% of the issued share

capital of the Company as at the date of this notice .
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Mr. Chan has entered into a ser vice contract with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 12

September 2001 and is automatically renewable for successive terms of one year after the expir y of the then current

term. Under the terms of the current ser vice contract, Mr. Chan is entitled to a monthly salar y of HK$12,360 and a

discretionar y bonus to be determined by the board of Director s in its absolute discretion, provided that the total

amount of bonuses payable to all the executive Directors for the time being of the Company shall not exceed 10% of

the consolidated audited net profit of the Company and its subsidiar ies after taxation and minor ity interests and the

payment of such bonuses but before extraordinary items in a financial year.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any other matters that need to be brought to the attention of

the shareholders of the Company in relation to the re-appointment of Mr. Chan.

Mr. Tsui Hon Wing, aged 58, an executive Director, joined the Group in 1987 and possesses over 30 years of extensive

experience in the sales and management of business solutions. Apar t from being an executive director of the

Company, Mr. Tsui has not held any directorship in listed public companies or other major appointments and qualif ications

during the last three years preceding the date of this notice . Mr. Tsui is not holding any other position in the Company

and/or its subsidiar ies as at the date of this notice . Mr. Tsui is not related to other Director s, senior management or

substantial or controlling shareholder s of the Company.

Mr. Tsui is interested in 3,939,200 shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.85% of the issued share capital

of the Company as at the date of this notice .

Mr. Tsui has entered into a ser vice contract with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 12

September 2001 and is automatically renewable for successive terms of one year after the expir y of the then current

term. Under the terms of the current ser vice contract, Mr. Tsui is entitled to a monthly salar y of HK$51,500 and a

discretionar y bonus to be determined by the board of Director s in its absolute discretion, provided that the total

amount of bonuses payable to all the executive Directors for the time being of the Company shall not exceed 10% of

the consolidated audited net profit of the Company and its subsidiar ies after taxation and minor ity interests and the

payment of such bonuses but before extraordinary items in a financial year.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any other matters that need to be brought to the attention of

the shareholders of the Company in relation to the re-appointment of Mr. Tsui.

Mr. Wu Kwok Lam, aged 43, an executive Director, joined the Group in 1989 and is currently the General Manager and

Chief Financial Officer of the Group. He earned his MBA degree from Murdoch University, Australia and has over 15

years of extensive experience in the accounting and finance field. He is also an Associate Member of the Hong Kong

Institute of Cer tified Public Accountants and a Fellow Member of the Association of Char tered Cer tified Accountants.

Mr. Wu is also the company secretary and qualified accountant of the Company. Mr. Wu is also currently an executive

director of cer tain subsidiar ies of the Company, namely Hong Kong Communications Equipment Company Limited,

Generalvestor (HK) Limited, Circle Mobile Communications Limited and HKC International (Thailand) Limited. Save as

disclosed above, Mr. Wu has not held any directorship in listed public companies or other major appointments and

qualifications during the last three years preceding the date of this notice and is not holding any other position in the

Company and/or its subsidiar ies as at the date of this notice . Mr. Wu is not related to other Director s, senior

management or substantial or controlling shareholder s of the Company.

Mr. Wu is interested in 1,000,000 shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.22% of the issued share capital

of the Company as at the date of this notice .
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Mr. Wu has entered into a ser vice contract with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 12

September 2001 and is automatically renewable for successive terms of one year after the expir y of the then current

term. Under the terms of the current ser vice contract, Mr. Wu is entitled to a monthly salar y of HK$70,000 and a

discretionar y bonus to be determined by the board of Director s in its absolute discretion, provided that the total

amount of bonuses payable to all the executive Directors for the time being of the Company shall not exceed 10% of

the consolidated audited net profit of the Company and its subsidiaries after taxation and minor ity interests and the

payment of such bonuses but before extraordinary items in a financial year.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any other matters that need to be brought to the attention of

the shareholders of the Company in relation to the re-appointment of Mr. Wu.

Mr. Leung Tai Wai, David, aged 49, an independent non-executive Director, is the president of Zestra Asia Limited. Mr.

Leung held a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration and a Master’s Degree in Marketing. Apar t from being an

independent non-executive Director of the Company, Mr. Leung has not held any directorship in listed public companies

or other major appointments and qualifications during the last three years preceding the date of this notice . Mr. Leung

is not holding any other position in the Company and/or its subsidiar ies as at the date of this notice . Mr. Leung is not

related to other Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholder s of the Company.

Mr. Leung does not have any interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Par t XV of the Securities

and Futures Ordinance.

Mr. Leung has not entered into any service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries. Mr. Leung is entitled

to an annual director’s fee of HK$20,000 which was determined by the board of Directors with regard to the time

spent by Mr. Leung on the affairs of the Company. Mr. Leung is to be elected for a term of one year.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any other matters that need to be brought to the attention of

the shareholders of the Company in relation to the re-appointment of Mr. Leung.

5 In relation to the proposed resolutions numbered 5 above, approval is being sought from the shareholder s for the

grant to the Directors of a general mandate to authorise the allotment and issue of shares under the Listing Rules. The

Directors have no immediate plans to issue any new shares of the Company other than shares which may fall to be

issued under the share option scheme of the Company or any scrip dividend scheme which may be approved by

shareholders.

6. Delivery of an instrument appointing a proxy should not preclude a shareholder from attending and voting

in person at the above meeting or any adjournment thereof and in such event, the instrument appointing a

proxy shall be deemed to be revoked.

7. In the case of joint registered holders of a share, any one of such joint holders may vote, either in person

or by proxy, in respect of such share as if he/she were solely entitled thereto; but if more than one of such

joint holders are present at the above meeting, that one of the joint registered holder so present whose

name stands first on the register of shareholders in respect of such share shall alone be entitled to vote in

respect thereof.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31st March, 2005, the Group’s turnover increased by 2% to HK$974 million (2004:

HK$954 million) and net profit significantly increased by 22 times from HK$0.5 million to HK$12 million in

comparison with the last year.

SALES OF MOBILE PHONES

The sale of mobile phones continued to be the Group’s major core business for the year. The boost of the

profit from HK$2 million to HK$22 million was dr iven by the improved performance of our retail chain, under the

trading name of “Circle”, and overseas subsidiaries and higher profit margin for new models when compared with

last year.

As at 31st March, 2005, the mobile phones retail chain of the Group, namely “Circle”, operated 7 counters in

the Jusco Depar tment Stores. In addition, the Group also operated a franchised “Nokia Professional Centre” in

Mongkok.

SALE OF BUSINESS SOLUTIONS

The sales of business solutions relates to the sales of office telephone systems, security systems and integrated

services, and the provision of installation, repair and maintenance ser vice in relation to these systems. During the

year under review, the division recovered from a loss of HK$1 million last year to a profit of HK$0.7 million. The

improvement in the performance of the division was contr ibuted by our improving sales effor ts and uplifting of

the quality of service provided.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

Gross rental income generated from the investment proper ties decreased by 51% to HK$1.6 million (2004:

HK$3.3 million), while the operating profit decreased from a profit of HK$2 million to a loss of HK$0.6 million.

The decline was principally attributed to an increase in vacancy level after expiration of cer tain tenancies of the

investment proper ties which were subsequently sold to an independent third par ty at a consideration of HK$180

million and the completion of such disposal took place after the year end. The par ticulars of such sale were set

out in the Company’s announcement dated 3rd December, 2004 and circular dated 17th January, 2005.

Subsequent to the year end, the Group had also completed the acquisitions of investment proper ties in Hong

Kong and Shanghai at cash consideration of approximately HK$65 million and HK$5 million respectively in order

to enrich our investment proper ties por tfolio for stable rental income.

PROSPECTS

With the continued popularity of the new mobile phone models and the established distribution and retail

channels of the Group both locally and overseas, we are confident that the Group would keep its growth at a

stable level in the coming year. We will also continue to seek for oppor tunities for fur ther development in other

countries.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31st March, 2005, the Group’s bank balances and cash amounted to approximately HK$41 million (2004:

HK$32 million) while the bank borrowing was HK$22 million (2004: HK$30 million). The long term bank borrowing

is denominated in Hong Kong dollar s and was fully repaid in April 2005. The gearing ratio was 9% (2004: 16 %)

which is expressed as a percentage of total borrowings to the shareholders’ funds.

As substantial por tion of transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollar, the Group’s exposure to exchange

fluctuation is low.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group invested HK$3 million in proper ty, plant and equipment dur ing the year. This was financed from

internal resources.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31st March, 2005, the total number of employees of the Group was approximately 300 (2004: 300) and

the remuneration of employees (excluding directors’ emoluments) amounted to HK$45 million (2004: HK$40

million). The remuneration and bonus packages are based on the individual mer its and performance of each

employee and are reviewed at least annually. There is a share option scheme in place designed to award

employees for their performance at the discretion of the Directors. The Group maintains a good relationship with

its employees.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31st March, 2005, cer tain leasehold land and buildings and investment proper ties with aggregate carrying

values of HK$4 million (2004: HK$4 million) and HK$66 million (2004: HK$55 million) respectively were pledged

to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Corporate guarantees totalling HK$87 million (2004: HK$97 million) have been executed to secure banking

facilities granted to the subsidiaries.

DIVIDEND

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.01 (2004: HK$0.01) per ordinar y share

payable to shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Member s of the Company on Fr iday, 9th

September, 2005. Subject to the approval of shareholders at the for thcoming Annual General Meeting, the

dividend will be paid on or before 16th September, 2005.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from 7th September, 2005 to 9th September 2005,

both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to qualify

for the final dividend, all transfers, accompanied by the relevant share cer tificates, should be lodged with the

Company’s Share Registrars in Hong Kong, Pilare Limited, 10th Floor, Sun Hung Kai Centre , 30 Harbour Road,

Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 6th September 2005.

APPRECIATION

We would like to extend our sincere gratitude to all the staff members of the Group for their contribution

and continued suppor t during the year.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Huber t, aged 45, joined the Group in 1984 and is responsible for the formulation of

corporate strategies and business development of the Group. He has over 20 years of experience in the trading

and distr ibution of telecommunications equipment. Mr. Chan has attained a Bachelor’s Degree in Industr ial

Engineering from the University of Hong Kong and an EMBA Degree from the Hong Kong University of Science

and Technology, which fur ther strengthens not only his industr y experience but also his leadership in the Group

with cutting-edge management knowledge. Mr. Chan is also very active in promoting the telecommunications

industry in Hong Kong. He has served as an Executive Committee Member of the Internet & Telecom Association

of Hong Kong for over 8 years and is now occupying the post of Vice Chairman for the current term.

Mr. CHAN Chung Yin, Roy, aged 43, the younger brother of Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Huber t, has been an

executive director of the group since he joined in 1989. He graduated from the University of Toronto, Canada

with a Bachelor’s Degree in Computer Science and has over 15 years of experience in the telecommunications

industr y.

Mr. WU Kwok Lam, aged 43, joined the Group in 1989 and is cur rently the General Manager and Chief

Financial Officer of the Group. He earned his MBA degree from Murdoch University, Australia and has over 15

years of extensive experience in the accounting and finance field. He is also an associate member of the Hong

Kong Institute of Cer tified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Char tered Cer tified

Accountants. Mr. Wu is also the company secretary and qualified accountant of the Company.

Mr. CHAN Man Min, aged 72, joined the Group in 1971 with over 30 years of extensive experience in the

telecommunications industr y. He is the father of Mr. Chan Ming Him, Denny.

Mr. CHAN Ming Him, Denny, aged 46, joined the Group in 1999 with over 15 years of experience in the

telecommunications industr y in China. He graduated from McMaster University, Canada with a Master’s Degree in

Engineering. He is the son of Mr. Chan Man Min.

Mr.  TSUI Hon Wing, aged 58, joined the Group in 1987 and possesses over 30 years of extensive experience

in the sales and management of intercom, keyphone and closed-circuit television systems.

Mr.  YEH Yui Fong, aged 71, is responsible for overseeing the business planning and operation in the Singapore

subsidiar y of the Company. He has been an executive director of the Singapore subsidiar y since 1981 and has

over 20 years of extensive experience in the telecommunications industr y. He has attained an MBA Degree from

the Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHIU Ngar Wing, aged 51, is a practising accountant. He is an associate member of the Hong Kong

Institute of Cer tified Public Accountants and the Institute of Char tered Accountants in England and Wales and a

fellow member of the Association of Char tered Cer tified Accountants. He is a director of T.C. Ng & Co, C.P.A. Ltd

and has been practising in the firm for about 20 years.

Dr. CHU Chor Lup, aged 52, is a practising doctor. He is a fellow of Hong Kong College of Physician and Hong

Kong Academy of Medicine and Royal College of Physician (Glasgow). He has been the member of the Hospital

Governing Committee since 1997.

Mr. Leung Tai Wai, David, aged 49, is the president of Zestra Asia Limited. Mr. Leung held a Bachelor’s Degree

in Business Administration and a Master’s Degree in Marketing.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. KWONG Chiu Fan, Kevin, aged 40, joined the Group in 2001 and has over 15 years of experience in

technical projects, product development and management. He is also currently the Director of HKC Technology

Limited, one of the subsidiar ies of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he held various positions in leading

technology companies including Telecommunications Technology Centre , Zi Corporation, IBM Global Ser vices

Australia and Hong Kong Productivity Council. Mr. Kwong holds a Master of Science Degree from Imper ial College

of the University of London and a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

He is also a Char tered Engineer and a member of the Hong Kong Computer Society, the Hong Kong Institution of

Engineers and the Institution of Electr ical Engineers.

Mr. CHOI Chun Yik, aged 44, joined the Group in 1990 with over 15 years of exper ience in the

telecommunications industr y. He is responsible for overseeing the operations of sales, customer ser vices and

technical ser vices of our business solutions division. He has attained an MBA Degree from Murdoch University,

Australia.

Mr. WONG Derrick, aged 50, is the general manager of the Singapore subsidiar y of the Company. Mr. Wong

holds a diploma of Electr ical Engineering and a graduate diploma in marketing management. Mr. Wong joined the

Group in 1981, and has over 20 years of experience in the telecommunication industr y. He is the founding

member of the Association of Telecommunications Industr y of Singapore (ATIS), and was the President of ATIS

from 1997 to 1999.

Mr. LAU Chuen Kee, aged 43, is the general manager of the Shanghai subsidiar y of the Company. Mr. Lau

joined the Group in 1998 and is responsible for exploring business oppor tunities in China. He has over 15 years’

experience in the telecommunications industr y of China.

Mr. SO Kin Kai, Morris, age 45, is the general manager of the mobile division. Mr. So has over 10 years of

experience with mobile network operators and mobile phone vendor in distribution channel management and

development. He has international working experience in Toronto, Singapore and Beijing. Prior to his joining with

the Group, he held various positions in Nokia, overseeing the channel development of APAC and Greater China.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

The directors have pleasure in presenting their annual repor t and the audited financial statements of the

group and the company for the year ended 31st March, 2005.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiar ies are set out in

note 38 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the group for the year ended 31st March, 2005 are set out in the consolidated income

statement on page 23.

During the year, the company paid a final dividend of HK$0.01 per ordinar y share for the year 2004, totalling

HK$4,496,000.

The directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.01 per ordinar y share to the

shareholders of the company whose names appear on the register of member s on 9th September, 2005.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

All of the investment proper ties of the group were revalued at 31st March, 2005. The revaluation surplus

arising on revaluation, which amounted to HK$15,355,000, has been credited to the investment proper ty revaluation

reserve.

Details of these movements during the year in the investment proper ties of the group are set out in note 15

to the financial statements.

Par ticulars of the investment proper ties of the group as at 31st March, 2005 are set out on page 65.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

All of the leasehold land and buildings were revalued at 31st March, 2005. The revaluation surplus arising on

revaluation, which amounted to HK$14,031,000, has been credited to the leasehold proper ty revaluation reser ve.

Details of these and other movements during the year in the proper ty, plant and equipment of the group are

set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

Par ticulars of the leasehold land and buildings of the group as at 31st March, 2005 are set out on page 66.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the share capital of the company are set out in note 28 to the

financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the company’s Ar ticles of Association or the laws of the

Cayman Islands which would oblige the company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the group during the year amounted to HK$507,000.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the company during the year and up to the date of this repor t were:

Executive directors:

Chan Chung Yee, Huber t – Chairman

Chan Chung Yin, Roy

Chan Man Min

Chan Ming Him, Denny

Tsui Hon Wing

Wu Kwok Lam

Yeh Yui Fong

Kwok Cheuk Tim, Rockie (Resigned on 31st August, 2004)

Independent non-executive directors:

Chiu Ngar Wing

Chu Chor Lup

Leung Tai Wai, David (Appointed on 30th September, 2004)

In accordance with Ar ticle 108 of the company’s Ar ticles of Association, Messrs. Chan Ming Him, Denny, Tsui

Hon Wing and Wu Kwok Lam will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the

for thcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with the Ar ticle 112 of the company’s Ar ticles of Association, the term of directorship of Mr.

Leung Tai Wai, David, who was appointed on 30th September, 2004, will end at the for thcoming annual general

meeting. Under that Ar ticle, Mr. Leung Tai Wai, David, being eligible , will offer himself for re-election at the

for thcoming annual general meeting.

Each of the executive directors has entered into a ser vice contract with the company for an initial term of

three years commencing from 12th September, 2001, and is automatically renewable for successive terms of one

year upon expir y of the then current term, until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing

served by either par ty to the other.

The term of office for each independent non-executive director is one year.

None of the directors of the company has a ser vice contract with the company or any of its subsidiar ies

which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutor y compensation.



HKC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2005

16

HKC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Other than the interests disclosed under the section headed “Connected transactions” below and disclosed in

note 37 to the financial statements, no other contracts of significance to which the company or any of its

subsidiaries was a par ty and in which a director of the company had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The company has received from each of its current independent non-executive directors an annual confirmation

of his independence and the company considers each of them to be independent based on the guidelines set out

in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31st March, 2005, the interests and shor t positions of the directors and chief executive of the company

in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) which were required to

be notified to the company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to

Divisions 7 and 8 of Par t XV of the SFO (including interests and shor t positions which he was taken or deemed

to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be

entered in the register maintained by the company referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies contained in the Listing Rules, to be

notified to the company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Percentage of

interests in

The company/ the issued share

associated Capacity/nature Number and class capital at

Name of director corporation of interest of securities 31st March, 2005

(note 1)

Chan Chung Yee, Huber t The company Founder of a trust 229,176,575 49.74%

ordinary shares

(each a “Share”) of

HK$0.01 each (L)

(Note 2)

The company Beneficial owner 4,300,000 Shares (L) 0.93%

Matrix World Founder of a trust 1 share of US$1.00 each (L) 100%

Group Limited
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS — continued

Percentage of
interests in

The company/ the issued share
associated Capacity/nature Number and class capital at

Name of director corporation of interest of securities 31st March, 2005
(Note 1)

Chan Chung Yin, Roy The company Founder of a trust 68,417,400 Shares (L) 14.85%
 (Note 3)

The company Beneficial owner 2,000,000 Shares (L) 0.43%

Chan Man Min The company Interest of controlled 24,709,650 Shares (L) 5.36%
corporation (Note 4)

The company Beneficial owner 1,000,000 Shares (L) 0.22%

Yeh Yui Fong The company Interest of controlled 2,681,550 Shares (L) 0.58%
corporation (Note 5)

The company Beneficial owner 1,000,000 Shares (L) 0.22%

Tsui Hon Wing The company Beneficial owner 2,939,200 Shares (L) 0.64%

Chan Ming Him, Denny The company Beneficial owner 1,000,000 Shares (L) 0.22%

Notes:

1. The Letter “L” represents the director’s interests in the shares and under lying shares of the company or its associated
corporations.

2. Of these Shares, 8,484,848 shares were held by Light Emotion Limited, a company wholly owned by Matrix World
Group Limited and 220,691,727 shares were held by Matr ix World Group Limited, a company wholly owned by
Trustcorp Limited as the trustee of a discretionar y trust of which Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Huber t is the founder (within
the meaning ascribed to it under Par t XV of the SFO). By vir tue of the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Par t XV of
the SFO, Matrix World Group Limited was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Light Emotion Limited and
Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Huber t was deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Matr ix World Group Limited was
interested.

3. These Shares were held by Star Global International Limited, a company wholly owned by Trustcorp Limited as the
trustee for a discretionar y trust of which Mr. Chan Chung Yin, Roy is the founder (within the meaning ascr ibed to it
under Par t XV of the SFO). By vir tue of the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Par t XV of the SFO, Mr. Chan Chung
Yin, Roy was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Star Global International Limited.

4. These Shares were held by Ocean Hope Group Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Chan Man Min. By vir tue of
the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Par t XV of the SFO, Mr. Chan Man Min was deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Ocean Hope Group Limited.

5. These Shares were held by CIT Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Yeh Yui Fong and his wife in equal
share. By vir tue of the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Par t XV of the SFO, Mr. Yeh Yui Fong was deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by CIT Company Limited.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS — continued

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2005, none of the directors and chief executive of the company had

any interest and shor t position in shares, under lying shares and debentures of the company or its associated

corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the company and the Stock

Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Par t XV of the SFO (including interests and shor t positions which he

has taken or was deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section

352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by the company referred to therein, or which were

required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies contained in

the Listing Rules, to be notified to the company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apar t from those disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ interest and shor t positions in shares,

underlying shares and debentures of the company and its associated corporations” above and under the section

headed “Share Options” below, at no time during the year under review or up to the date of this repor t were

there any rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisitions of shares in or debentures of the company

granted to any director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them;

or was the company, or any of its subsidiaries a par ty to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such

rights in any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTIONS

Par ticulars of the company’s share option scheme are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

At 31st March, 2005, the number of shares in respect of which options had been gr anted and yet to be

exercised under the scheme was 3,860,000, representing approximately 1% of shares of the company in issue at

that date.

The following table discloses movements in the company’s share options during the year :–

Exercise Outstanding Lapsed Granted Exercised Outstanding
Exercisable price per at 1st April, during during during at 31st March,
period share 2004 the year the year the year 2005

HK$

Directors:

Chan Chung Yee, 21.2.2003 – 0.17 4,300,000 – – (4,300,000) –
Huber t 20.2.2005

Chan Chung Yin, 21.2.2003 – 0.17 2,000,000 – – (2,000,000) –
Roy 20.2.2005

Chan Man Min 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 – – (1,000,000) –
20.2.2005

Chan Ming Him, 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 – – (1,000,000) –
Denny 20.2.2005
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SHARE OPTIONS— continued
Exercise Outstanding Lapsed Granted Exercised Outstanding

Exercisable price per at 1st April, during during during at 31st March,
period share 2004 the year the year the year 2005

HK$

Kwok Cheuk Tim, 21.2.2003 – 0.17 2,000,000 (2,000,000) – – –
Rockie 20.2.2005

Tsui Hon Wing 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 – – (1,000,000) –
20.2.2005

Wu Kwok Lam 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 (1,000,000) – – –
20.2.2005

Yeh Yui Fong 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 – – (1,000,000) –
20.2.2005

13,300,000 (3,000,000) – (10,300,000) –

Employees 4.11.2004 – 0.196 – – 4,696,000 (836,000) 3,860,000
3.5.2006

13,300,000 (3,000,000) 4,696,000 (11,136,000) 3,860,000

The closing price of the company’s shares immediately before the date of grant of option to employees on

4th May, 2004 was HK$0.196.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the group had cer tain transactions with related par ties, details of which are set out in note

37 to the financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial par t of the

business of the company were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st March, 2005, the aggregate turnover attributable to the group’s five largest customers

accounted for approximately 50% of the group’s total turnover and the sales attr ibutable to the group’s largest

customer was approximately 22% of the total sales. The aggregate purchases attr ibutable to the group’s five

largest suppliers accounted for approximately 91% of the group’s total purchases and the purchases attr ibutable

to the group’s largest supplier was approximately 82% of the total purchases.

None of the director s of the company, any of their associates or any shareholders (which to the best

knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital) has any beneficial interest in any

of the group’s five largest customers or five largest suppliers.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES
There was no purchase , sale or redemption of the company’s listed shares by the company or any of its

subsidiaries during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS WHO ARE REQUIRED TO DISCLOSE
THEIR INTERESTS PURSUANT TO PART XV OF THE SFO

So far as the directors are aware, as at 31st March, 2005, the following persons, other than a director or chief

executive of the company, had an interest or a shor t position in the shares and under lying shares in the company

as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Percentage of
interests in

Number of the issued
ordinary shares share capital

(each a “Share”) of Capacity/nature as at
Name HK$0.01 each of interest 31st March, 2005

(Note 1)

Matrix World Group Limited 220,691,727 (L) Beneficial owner 47.90%

(Note 2)

8,484,848 (L) Interest of controlled 1.84%

corporation

Star Global International Limited 68,417,400 (L) Beneficial owner 14.85%

(Note 3)

Ocean Hope Group Limited 24,709,650 (L) Beneficial owner 5.36%

(Note 4)

Trustcorp Limited 297,593,975 (L) Trustee 64.59%

(Note 2 and 3)

Notes:

1. The letter “L” represents the person’s interests in Shares.

2. 8,484,848 Shares were held by Light Emotion Limited, a company wholly owned by Matrix World Group Limited and

220,691,727 Shares were held by Matrix World Group Limited, a company wholly owned by Trustcorp Limited as the

trustee of a discretionar y trust of which Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Huber t is the founder (within the meaning ascr ibed to it

under Par t XV of the SFO). By vir tue of the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Par t XV of the SFO, Matrix World

Group Limited was deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Light Emotion Limited and Trustcorp Limited was

deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Matr ix World Group Limited was interested.

3. Star Global International Limited is a company wholly owned by Trustcorp Limited as the trustee for a discretionar y

trust of which Mr. Chan Chung Yin, Roy is the founder (within the meaning ascr ibed to it under Par t XV of the SFO).

By vir tue of the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Par t XV of the SFO, Trustcorp Limited was deemed to be

interested in the Shares held by Star Global International Limited.

4. Ocean Hope Group Limited is a company wholly owned by Mr. Chan Man Min.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS WHO ARE REQUIRED TO DISCLOSE

THEIR INTERESTS PURSUANT TO PART XV OF THE SFO — continued

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2005, no person, other than a director or chief executive of the

company, had an interest or a shor t position in the shares and under lying shares in the company as recorded in

the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The company has complied throughout the year ended 31st March, 2005 with the Code of Best Practice as

set out in the then effective Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The company established an audit committee on 12th September, 2001 with written terms of reference in

compliance with the Code of Best Practice as set out in the then effective Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The

primary duties of the audit committee are to review and super vise the financial repor ting process and internal

control system of the group.

The company’s audit committee comprises three independent non-executive directors namely, Mr. Chiu Ngar

Wing, Dr. Chu Chor Lup and Mr. Leung Tai Wai, David.

AUDITORS

Li, Tang, Chen & Co. will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution for the

reappointment of Li, Tang, Chen & Co. as auditors of the company is to be proposed at the for thcoming annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Chan Chung Yee, Hubert

Chairman

Hong Kong, 22nd July, 2005
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

HKC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements on pages 23 to 63 which have been prepared in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair

view. In preparing financial statements which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that appropr iate accounting

policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial statements and

to repor t our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility

towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this repor t.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing Standards issued by the Hong Kong

Institute of Cer tified Public Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to

the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates

and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting

policies are appropr iate to the company’s and the group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately

disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered

necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the financial

statements are free from mater ial misstatement. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of

the presentation of information in the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis

for our opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affair s of the company and the

group as at 31st March, 2005 and of the profit and cash flows of the group for the year then ended and have

been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance .

Li, Tang, Chen & Co.

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Hong Kong, 22nd July, 2005

(PRACTISING)
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2005 2004

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

TURNOVER 4 974,056 954,137

Cost of sales (871,275) (874,440)

GROSS PROFIT 102,781 79,697

Other operating income 5 1,748 1,147

Selling and distribution costs (9,661) (7,773)

Administrative and other operating expenses (71,172) (68,164)

Amor tisation of goodwill ar ising on

acquisition of subsidiar ies (214) (429)

Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill (3,645) –

Loss on disposal of investment proper ties – (2,053)

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 6 19,837 2,425

Finance costs 7 (748) (864)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 19,089 1,561

TAX EXPENSE 10 (7,239) (1,340)

PROFIT BEFORE MINORITY INTERESTS 11,850 221

MINORITY INTERESTS 150 302

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO

SHAREHOLDERS 11 12,000 523

DIVIDEND 12 4,496 4,348

EARNINGS PER SHARE – (HK CENTS)

– basic 13 2.7 cents 0.1 cent

– diluted 13 2.7 cents 0.1 cent
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As at 31st March, 2005

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Goodwill 14 – 3,859 – –

Investment proper ties 15 91,301 75,946 – –

Proper ty, plant and equipment 16 67,138 54,888 – –

Interests in subsidiaries 17 – – 204,860 199,024

Investments in securities 18 7,638 6,640 – –

Club debentures 335 335 – –

Deferred tax assets 27 47 58 – –

166,459 141,726 204,860 199,024
------------- ------------- ------------- -------------

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 19 51,493 51,689 – –

Debtors, deposits and prepayments 20 46,807 41,313 – –

Deposits for acquisitions

of proper ties 21 11,398 – – –

Amount due from a related

company 22 1,016 1,825 – –

Investments in securities 18 3,862 3,862 3,862 3,862

Taxation recoverable 292 3,324 – –

Pledged bank deposits 35 – 280 – –

Bank balances and cash 40,651 32,473 1,026 259

155,519 134,766 4,888 4,121
------------- ------------- ------------- -------------

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Creditors and accrued charges 23 36,980 43,541 8 –

Other deposit received 24 18,000 – – –

Taxation payable 3,875 743 – –

Obligations under finance leases 25 33 47 – –

Bank borrowings 26 3,365 3,187 – –

62,253 47,518 8 –
------------- ------------- ------------- -------------

NET CURRENT ASSETS 93,266 87,248 4,880 4,121
------------- ------------- ------------- -------------
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THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TOTAL ASSETS LESS

CURRENT LIABILITIES 259,725 228,974 209,740 203,145
------------- ------------- ------------- -------------

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Obligations under finance leases 25 113 4 – –

Bank borrowings 26 18,792 27,218 – –

Deferred tax liabilities 27 1,146 6,254 – –

20,051 33,476 – –
------------- ------------- ------------- -------------

MINORITY INTERESTS 407 557 – –
------------- ------------- ------------- -------------

239,267 194,941 209,740 203,145

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital 28 4,608 4,496 4,608 4,496

Reserves 30 234,659 190,445 205,132 198,649

239,267 194,941 209,740 203,145

The financial statements on pages 23 to 63 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

on 22nd July, 2005 and are signed on its behalf by:

Chan Chung Yee, Hubert Chan Chung Yin, Roy

Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31st March, 2005

Leasehold

Investment land and

properties buildings

Share Share Capital revaluation revaluation Translation Retained

capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31st March, 2003 4,348 27,239 28,325 9,465 23,573 (36) 100,060 192,974

Revaluation surplus – – – 767 2,512 – – 3,279

Reclassification – – – (2,726) 2,726 – – –

Deficit on revaluation

released upon disposal

of investment proper ties – – – 852 – – – 852

Deferred tax liabilities

charged – – – – (437) – – (437)

Deferred tax charge due

to change in tax rate – – – – (430) – – (430)

Exchange differences on

translation of overseas

operations – – – – – 84 – 84

Shares issued pursuant

to scrip dividend

scheme 148 2,296 – – – – – 2,444

Net profit for the year – – – – – – 523 523

Dividend paid – – – – – – (4,348) (4,348)

At 31st March, 2004 4,496 29,535 28,325 8,358 27,944 48 96,235 194,941

At 31st March, 2004 4,496 29,535 28,325 8,358 27,944 48 96,235 194,941

Revaluation surplus – – – 15,355 14,031 – – 29,386

Deferred tax credited – – – – 5,455 – – 5,455

Exchange differences on

translation of overseas

operations – – – – – 65 – 65

Exercise of share options 112 1,804 – – – – – 1,916

Net profit for the year – – – – – – 12,000 12,000

Dividend paid – – – – – – (4,496) (4,496)

At 31st March, 2005 4,608 31,339 28,325 23,713 47,430 113 103,739 239,267
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For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2005 2004

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit from operations 19,837 2,425
Adjustments for :

Interest income (207) (299)
Dividend income from unlisted investments (312) –
Depreciation and amor tisation of proper ty,

plant and equipment 3,507 3,888
Amor tisation of goodwill 214 429
Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill 3,645 –
Loss on disposal of proper ty, plant and equipment 1,211 963
Loss on disposal of investment proper ties – 2,053

Operating cash flow before movements in
working capital 27,895 9,459

Decrease in inventories 196 16,145
Increase in debtors, deposits and prepayments (5,494) (5,169)
Decrease in amount due from a related company 809 5,516
Decrease in creditors and accrued charges (6,561) (8,657)
Exchange adjustments (58) (199)

Net cash generated from operations 16,787 17,095
Interest received 207 299
Dividend received from unlisted investments 312 –
Interest paid (740) (857)
Interest on finance leases (8) (7)
Tax paid:

Hong Kong (585) (1,661)
Overseas (132) (87)

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 15,841 14,782
---------------- ----------------

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Deposits for acquisitions of proper ties (11,398) –
Purchase of proper ty, plant and equipment (2,976) (4,305)
Purchase of investments in securities (998) (10,502)
Other deposit received for disposal of investment

proper ties and leasehold land and buildings 18,000 –
Proceeds from disposal of proper ty, plant and equipment 314 3
Proceeds from disposal of investment proper ties – 7,700
Proceeds from disposal of investments in securities – 7,741
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits 280 (280)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 33(a) – 223

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 3,222 580
---------------- ----------------
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31st March, 2005

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of shares on exercise of share

options 1,916 –

Dividend paid (4,496) (1,904)

Repayment of bank loans (8,192) (3,056)

Repayment of obligations under finance leases (66) (40)

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (10,838) (5,000)
---------------- ----------------

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS 8,225 10,362

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING

OF YEAR 32,417 22,030

Effect of foreign exchange rates changes 9 25

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 40,651 32,417

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances and cash 40,651 32,473

Bank overdraft – (56)

40,651 32,417
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1. GENERAL

The company is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The principal activity of the company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiar ies

are set out in note 38.

2. POTENTIAL IMPACT ARISING FROM THE RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In 2004, the Hong Kong Institute of Cer tified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) issued a number of new or

revised Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Hong Kong Financial Repor ting Standards (hereinafter collectively

referred to as “new HKFRSs”) which are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st January,

2005. The group has not ear ly adopted these new HKFRSs in the financial statements for the year ended

31st March, 2005.

The group has commenced consider ing the potential impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a

position to determine whether these new HKFRSs would have a significant impact on how its results of

operations and financial position are prepared and presented. These new HKFRSs may result in changes in

the future as to how the results and financial position are prepared and presented.

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Repor ting

Standards (which includes all applicable Statements of Standard Accounting Practice (“SSAP”) and

Interpretations) issued by the HKICPA, accounting pr inciples generally accepted in Hong Kong and the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance . The financial statements also comply with

the applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange . A summary of the significant

accounting policies adopted by the group is set out below.

(a) Basis of preparation of the financial statements:

The financial statements have been prepared under the histor ical cost convention as modified for the

revaluation of investment proper ties, leasehold land and buildings and investments in securities.

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the company and its

subsidiaries made up to 31st March each year.

The results of subsidiar ies acquired or disposed of dur ing the year are included in the consolidated

income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as

appropriate.

All significant inter-company transactions and balances within the group have been eliminated on

consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March, 2005

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued

(c) Goodwill

Goodwill ar ising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the group’s

interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiar y at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiar y is capitalised and amor tised on a straight line basis over 10

years and is presented separately in the balance sheet. The carr ying amount of goodwill is reviewed

annually and written down for impairment when it is considered necessar y.

On disposal of a subsidiar y, the attr ibutable amount of unamor tised goodwill is included in the

determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Proper ty, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and

amor tisation and any identified impairment loss.

Land and buildings are stated in the balance sheet at their revalued amount, being the fair value on the

basis of their existing use at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and

amor tisation and any subsequent impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity

such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined using

fair values at the balance sheet date .

Any revaluation surplus arising on revaluation of land and buildings is credited to the leasehold proper ty

revaluation reser ve except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset

previously recognised as an expenses, in which case the surplus is credited to income statement to the

extent of the deficit previously charged. A deficit in net carrying amount arising on revaluation of land

and buildings is charged as an expense to the extent that it exceeds the surplus, if any, held in the

leasehold proper ty revaluation reser ve relating to previous revaluation of that par ticular proper ty. On

the subsequent sale of land and buildings, the attributable revaluation surplus not yet transferred to

retained profits in prior years is transferred to retained profits.

The gain or loss arising from disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between

the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the income statement.

Depreciation and amor tisation are provided to write off the cost or valuation of items of assets over

their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land Over the term of the lease

Buildings Over the shor ter of the term of the lease or 40 years

Office equipment 10% – 20%

Leasehold improvements 20%

Furniture and fixtures 10% – 20%

Computer equipment 331/3%

Motor vehicles 20%

Moulds 20%

Plant and machiner y 20%



31
ANNUAL REPORT 2005

HKC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued

(e) Investment properties

Investment proper ties are completed proper ties which are held for their investment potential, any

rental income being negotiated at arm’s length.

Investment proper ties are stated at their open market value based on independent professional valuations

at the balance sheet date . Any revaluation surplus or deficit ar ising on revaluation of investment

proper ties is credited or charged to the investment proper ty revaluation reser ve unless the balance of

the reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, in which case the excess of the deficit over the balance of

the investment proper ty revaluation reser ve is charged to the income statement. Where a deficit has

previously been charged to the income statement and a revaluation surplus subsequent ar ises, this

surplus is credited to the income statement to the extent of the deficit previously charged.

On subsequent disposal of an investment proper ty, any revaluation surplus attributable to that proper ty

is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

No depreciation is provided in respect of investment proper ties which are held on leases with unexpired

terms, including the renewable period, of more than twenty years.

(f) Subsidiaries

A subsidiar y is a company whose financial and operating policies the company controls, directly or

indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiar ies are included in the company’s income statement to the extent of dividends

received and receivable. The company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment

losses.

(g) Investments in securities

Investments in securities are recognised on a trade-date basis and are initially measured at cost.

Investments other than held-to-matur ity debt securities are classified as investment securities and other

investments.

Investment secur ities, which are secur ities held for an identified long term strategic purpose, are

measured at subsequent repor ting dates at cost, as reduced by any impairment loss that is other than

temporary.

Other investments are measured at fair value , with unrealised gains and losses included in net profit or

loss for the year.

(h) Inventories

Inventories, representing merchandise held for resale, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable

value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated

selling price in the ordinar y course of business less estimated costs necessar y to make the sale.



HKC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2005

32

HKC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March, 2005

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued

(i) Assets under finance leases

Assets held under finance leases are capitalised at their fair value at the date of acquisition. The

corresponding liability to the lessor, net of interest charges, is included in the balance sheet as a finance

lease obligation. Finance costs, which represent the difference between the total leasing commitments

and the fair value of the assets acquired, are charged to income statement as expense over the period

of the relevant lease so as to produce a constant per iodic rate of charge on the remaining balances of

the obligations for each accounting period.

(j) Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets

to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If the

recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of

the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately,

unless the relevant asset is carr ied at a revalued amount under another SSAP, in which case the

impairment loss is treated as a revaluation deficit under that SSAP.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the

revised estimate of its recoverable amount, such that the increased carrying amount does not exceed

the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the

asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the

relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another SSAP, in which case the reversal of the

impairment loss is treated as a revaluation surplus.

(k) Income tax expense

Income tax expense compr ises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the

income statement or in equity if it relates to items that are recognised in the same or a diff erent

period, directly in equity.

Deferred tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on all temporary differences at the

balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and their carrying amounts for financial repor ting

purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences:

(a) except where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability and,

at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

(b) in respect of taxable temporary difference associated with interests in subsidiar ies, except where

the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that

the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued

(k) Income tax expense — continued

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax

assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against

which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax assets and unused tax

losses can be utilised:

(a) except where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from

the initial recognition of an assets or liability and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

(b) in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with interests in subsidiar ies, deferred

tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will

reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or par t of

the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are

recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or

par t of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the

period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have

been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date .

(l) Revenue recognition

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered and title has passed.

Service fee income is recognised when the relevant ser vices are rendered.

Rental income, including rentals invoiced in advance from proper ties let under operating leases, is

recognised on a straight line basis over the terms of the relevant leases.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the interest

rate applicable.

(m) Operating leases

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis

over the terms of the relevant leases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March, 2005

3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES — continued

(n) Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are translated at the rates prevailing on the dates of

the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet

date are re-translated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date . Gains and losses ar ising on

exchange are dealt with in the income statement.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the group’s overseas subsidiar ies are translated at the

rates prevailing on the balance sheet date . Income and expense items are translated at the weighted

average exchange rates for the year. All exchange differences arising on consolidation are dealt with in

the translation reser ve. Such translation differences are recognised as income or as expenses in the

period in which the operation is disposed of.

(o) Retirement benefits scheme

Payments to the Mandator y Provident Fund scheme and other state-managed retirement benef its

schemes are charged as expenses as they fall due .

(p) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on

hand and demand deposits, and shor t term highly liquid investments which are readily conver tible into

known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignif icant risk of changes in value, and have a

shor t maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable

on demand and form an integral par t of the group’s cash management.

4. TURNOVER/SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The principal activity of the company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiar ies

are set out in note 38.

Business segments

For management purposes, the group is currently organised into three operating divisions – sales of mobile

phones, sales of business solutions and proper ty investment. The group sells communication equipment and

provides a wide range of services. In the opinion of the directors, all the sales of these goods and provision

of installation, repairs and maintenance ser vices are “business solutions” related and, in most of the time, are

negotiated under a single contract with a single customer. Accordingly, the directors consider that it is more

appropriate for all the above activities to be classified in one single business segment. The comparative

figures of the segmental information have also been reclassified on this basis to conform with the current

year’s presentation.
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4. TURNOVER/SEGMENTAL INFORMATION — continued

Business segments — continued

Segment information about the group’s business is presented below:

For the year ended 31st March, 2005:

Sales of Sales of
mobile business Connection Property
phones solutions services investment Eliminations Consolidated
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TURNOVER
External sales 898,658 73,791 – 1,607 – 974,056
Inter-segment sales 773 – – 1,860 (2,633) –

Total turnover 899,431 73,791 – 3,467 (2,633) 974,056

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

RESULTS
Segment results 21,803 713 – (568) – 21,948

Interest income from bank
deposits 207

Unallocated other revenue 1,541
Amor tisation of goodwill

arising on acquisition
of subsidiaries – (214) – – – (214)

Impairment loss recognised
in respect of goodwill – (3,645) – – – (3,645)

Profit from operations 19,837
Finance costs (748)

Profit before taxation 19,089
Tax expense (7,239)

Profit before minority
interests 11,850

Minority interests 150

Net profit attributable to
shareholders 12,000
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4. TURNOVER/SEGMENTAL INFORMATION — continued

At 31st March, 2005:

Balance sheet

Sales of Sales of

mobile business Connection Property

phones solutions services investment Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Segment assets 127,523 49,717 – 103,930 281,170

Unallocated corporate

assets 40,808

Consolidated total

assets 321,978

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities 32,652 8,586 – 19,188 60,426

Unallocated corporate

liabilities 21,878

Consolidated total

liabilities 82,304

OTHER

INFORMATION

Capital expenditures 2,144 993 – – 3,137

Depreciation and

amortisation 1,596 1,383 – 528 3,507

Amortisation of

goodwill arising on

acquisition of

subsidiaries – 214 – – 214

Impairment loss recognised

in respect of goodwill – 3,645 – – 3,645
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4. TURNOVER/SEGMENTAL INFORMATION — continued

Segment information about the group’s business is presented below:

For the year ended 31st March, 2004:

Sales of Sales of

mobile business Connection Property

phones solutions services investment Eliminations Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TURNOVER

External sales 879,878 69,810 1,171 3,278 – 954,137

Inter-segment sales 62,539 2,703 – 1,960 (67,202) –

Total turnover 942,417 72,513 1,171 5,238 (67,202) 954,137

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

RESULTS

Segment results 2,263 (1,045) 365 2,177 – 3,760

Interest income from

bank deposits 299

Unallocated other

revenue 848

Amor tisation of

goodwill arising on

acquisition of

subsidiaries – (429) – – – (429)

Loss on disposal

of investment

proper ties – – – (2,053) – (2,053)

Profit from operations 2,425

Finance costs (864)

Profit before taxation 1,561

Tax expense (1,340)

Profit before minority

interests 221

Minority interests 302

Net profit attributable

to shareholders 523
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4. TURNOVER/SEGMENTAL INFORMATION — continued

At 31st March, 2004:

Balance sheet

Sales of Sales of

mobile business Connection Property

phones solutions services investment Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Segment assets 77,941 70,899 372 77,578 226,790

Unallocated corporate

assets 49,702

Consolidated total

assets 276,492

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities 32,851 9,479 – 236 42,566

Unallocated corporate

liabilities 38,428

Consolidated total

liabilities 80,994

OTHER

INFORMATION

Capital expenditures 1,334 2,971 – – 4,305

Depreciation and

amor tisation 1,096 2,690 – 102 3,888

Amor tisation of

goodwill arising on

acquisition of

subsidiaries – 429 – – 429

Loss on disposal of

investment proper ties – – – 2,053 2,053

Geographical segments

During the years ended 31st March, 2004 and 2005, more than 90% of the group’s turnover, profit from

operations, assets and liabilities were derived from and located in Hong Kong and, therefore, no geographical

segments are presented in the financial statements.
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5. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income from bank deposits 207 299

Dividend income from unlisted investments 312 –

Other income 1,099 848

Exchange gain 130 –

1,748 1,147

6. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit from operations has been arrived at after charging:

Auditors’ remuneration

– current year 442 398

– overprovision in respect of prior year (170) –

272 398

Depreciation and amor tisation

– owned assets 3,476 3,862

– assets under finance leases 31 26

3,507 3,888

Loss on disposal of proper ty, plant and equipment 1,211 963

Rental payments in respect of proper ties under

operating leases

– minimum lease payment 7,661 10,861

– contingent rent 1,613 1,098

9,274 11,959

Staff costs inclusive of directors’ emoluments 46,486 44,103

Retirement benefits scheme contribution 2,558 2,182

Total staff costs 49,044 46,285

and after crediting:

Gross rental income from proper ties under

operating leases after outgoings of

HK$202,000 (2004: HK$143,000) 1,405 3,135
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7. FINANCE COSTS

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on:

– Bank borrowings wholly repayable within five years 18 23

– Bank borrowings with instalments repayable after five years 722 834

– Interest on obligations under finance leases 8 7

748 864

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Directors’ fees to independent non-executive directors 40 40
---------------- ----------------

Other emoluments to executive directors:

Salaries and other benefits 2,939 4,668

Bonus 1,472 1,167

Retirement benefit schemes contributions 45 55

4,456 5,890
---------------- ----------------

Total directors’ emoluments 4,496 5,930

The remunerations of the directors were within the following bands:

2005 2004

Number of Number of

directors directors

Nil to HK$1,000,000 9 8

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 –

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 – 1

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 – 1

10 10

There was no compensation for loss of office paid to directors.
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9. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals of the group included four directors (2004: four directors), details of whose

emoluments are included in the amounts disclosed in note 8 above. The emoluments of the remaining

highest paid employee, other than directors of the company, are as follows:

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 750 496

Bonus 20 144

Retirement benefit schemes contributions 12 12

782 652

His emoluments were within the following band:

2005 2004

Number of Number of

employees employees

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1 1

10. TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5% (2004: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable

profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable in elsewhere have been calculated at

the rates of tax prevailing in those places in which the group oper ates, based on existing legislation,

interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current – Hong Kong

Charge for the year 5,190 1,442

Under/(over)provision in respect of prior years 1,845 (354)

Current – Elsewhere

Charge for the year 59 139

(Over)/underprovision in respect of prior years (213) 32

Deferred tax (note 27) 358 81

Tax expense for the year 7,239 1,340
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10. TAX EXPENSE — continued

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per the consolidated income

statement as follows:

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 19,089 1,561

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 17.5%

(2004: 17.5%) 3,340 273

Under/(over)provision of profits tax in respect of prior years 1,632 (321)

Effect on opening deferred tax resulting from an

increase in tax rate – 62

Tax effect of income not taxable (217) (45)

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in

determining taxable income 825 672

Effect on unrecognised tax losses 1,182 1,400

Tax losses utilised from previous year – (312)

Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdiction 33 (146)

Others 444 (243)

Tax expense for the year 7,239 1,340

In addition to the amount charged to the consolidated income statement, deferred tax relating to the

revaluation of the company’s leasehold land and buildings has been charged or credited directly to equity.

11. NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

The net consolidated profit attr ibutable to shareholder s includes a profit of HK$9,175,000 (2004:

HK$9,601,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the company.

12. DIVIDEND

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Final dividend for the year 2004 of HK$0.01

per ordinary share (2004: final dividend for

the year 2003 of HK$0.01 per ordinar y share) 4,496 4,348

The final dividend of HK$0.01 per ordinar y share for the year ended 31st March, 2005 has been proposed

by the directors and is subject to the approval by the shareholders in general meeting.
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

THE GROUP

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Net profit attributable to shareholders 12,000 523

Number Number

of shares of shares

Weighted average number of ordinar y shares for

the purposes of basic earnings per share 451,845,975 442,757,574

Effect of dilutive potential ordinar y shares:

Options 354,982 2,118,002

Weighted average number of ordinar y shares for

the purposes of diluted earnings per share 452,200,957 444,875,576

14. GOODWILL

THE GROUP

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1st April 4,759 471

Arising on acquisition of subsidiar ies during the year – 4,288

At 31st March 4,759 4,759
---------------- ----------------

Amor tisation and impairment

At 1st April 900 471

Amor tisation for the year 214 429

Impairment loss recognised 3,645 –

At 31st March 4,759 900
---------------- ----------------

Carrying amount

At 31st March – 3,859
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14. GOODWILL — continued

The Group has recognised an impairment loss on the unamor tised goodwill ar ising from the acquisition of

HKC Technology Limited (“HKCTL”) and HKC Technology (Shanghai) Limited, during the year, which are

engaged in the development and sales of electronics and telecommunication products. In the opinion of the

directors, such impairment loss arose from the huge operating losses sustained by HKCTL and the prevailing

competitive market conditions in Mainland China.

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

THE GROUP

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

VALUATION

At 1st April 75,946 85,338

Disposal – (8,900)

Transfer to proper ty, plant and equipment – (1,259)

Surplus arising on revaluation 15,355 767

At 31st March 91,301 75,946

The group’s investment proper ties comprise:

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Proper ties in Hong Kong

– Long lease 90,311 75,186

– Medium-term lease 990 760

91,301 75,946

All of the investment proper ties of the group were revalued at 31st March 2005 by LCH (Asia-Pacific)

Surveyors Limited, an independent firm of professional proper ty valuer, on an open market value existing

use basis. The resulting surplus arising on revaluation, which amounted to HK$15,355,000 (2004: HK$767,000),

has been credited to the investment proper ty revaluation reserve.

All the investment proper ties of the group are rented out under operating leases.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Office

equipment,
leasehold

Leasehold improvements,
land and and furniture Computer Motor Plant and
buildings and fixtures equipment vehicles Moulds machinery Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THE GROUP
Cost or valuation
At 1st April, 2004 46,384 19,719 5,172 2,398 2,133 987 76,793
Currency realignment 120 61 34 15 – – 230
Additions – 1,330 1,130 335 251 91 3,137
Disposals – (12,074) (1,535) (1,170) – – (14,779)
Surplus on revaluation 13,275 – – – – – 13,275

At 31st March, 2005 59,779 9,036 4,801 1,578 2,384 1,078 78,656
------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- -------------

Comprising:
At cost – 9,036 4,801 1,578 2,384 1,078 18,877
At valuation 59,779 – – – – – 59,779

59,779 9,036 4,801 1,578 2,384 1,078 78,656
------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- -------------

Accumulated
depreciation
and amortisation

At 1st April, 2004 – 15,838 4,094 1,524 252 197 21,905
Currency realignment 13 48 40 15 – – 116
Provided for the year 743 1,120 797 172 470 205 3,507
Eliminated on disposals – (10,951) (1,487) (816) – – (13,254)
Eliminated on revaluation (756) – – – – – (756)

At 31st March, 2005 – 6,055 3,444 895 722 402 11,518
------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- ------------- -------------

Net book value
At 31st March, 2005 59,779 2,981 1,357 683 1,662 676 67,138

At 31st March, 2004 46,384 3,881 1,078 874 1,881 790 54,888

All of the leasehold land and buildings of the group were revaluated at 31st March, 2005 by LCH (Asia

Pacific) Surveyors Limited, an independent firm of professional proper ty valuer, on an open market value

existing use basis. The resulting surplus arising on revaluation, which amounted to HK$14,031,000 (2004:

HK$2,512,000) has been credited to the leasehold proper ty revaluation reserve.

At 31st March, 2005, had all the leasehold land and buildings been carr ied at cost less accumulated

depreciation and amor tisation, the carrying value of these proper ties would have been stated at HK$14,170,000

(2004: HK$14,381,000).
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT — continued

The group’s leasehold land and buildings comprise:

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Proper ties held under long leases

– in Hong Kong 56,179 42,904

– overseas 3,600 3,480

59,779 46,384

The net book value of office equipment, leasehold

improvements and furniture and fixtures held

under finance leases 176 198

The net book value of motor vehicles held

under finance leases 158 –

17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

THE COMPANY

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 163,654 163,654

Amounts due from subsidiar ies 41,206 35,370

204,860 199,024

The amounts due from subsidiar ies are non-interest bearing, unsecured and have no fixed terms for repayment.

Par ticulars of the subsidiaries as at 31st March, 2005 are set out in note 38.
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES

Investments Other

in securities investments Total

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THE GROUP

Shares listed in

Hong Kong,

at cost 3,751 2,753 – – 3,751 2,753

ING China WTO

guaranteed

fund, at cost 3,887 3,887 – – 3,887 3,887

7,638 6,640 – – 7,638 6,640

Unlisted debt securities – – 3,862 3,862 3,862 3,862

Total 7,638 6,640 3,862 3,862 11,500 10,502

Carrying amount analysed

for repor ting

purposes as:

Non-current 7,638 6,640 – – 7,638 6,640

Current – – 3,862 3,862 3,862 3,862

7,638 6,640 3,862 3,862 11,500 10,502

Market value of

listed shares 5,259 2,889 – – 5,259 2,889

THE COMPANY

Unlisted debt securities

Current – – 3,862 3,862 3,862 3,862

The debt securities represent the cer tificates of deposit issued by a bank.

The group has pledged its investment in guaranteed fund to secure general banking facilities granted to the

group.



HKC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2005

48

HKC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March, 2005

19. INVENTORIES

THE GROUP

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Inventories 51,493 51,689

The cost of inventories recognised in the consolidated income statement dur ing the year amounted to

HK$869,404,000 (2004: HK$872,038,000).

The amount of inventories carried at net realisable value is HK$3,588,000 (2004: HK$4,379,000).

20. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

The group has a policy of allowing average credit period ranging from two weeks to one month to its trade

customers. In addition, for cer tain customers with long-established relationship and good past repayment

histories, a longer credit period may be granted.

The aged analysis of trade debtors of HK$30,476,000 (2004: HK$30,786,000) which are included in the

group’s debtors, deposits and prepayments is as follows:

THE GROUP

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 18,818 18,276

31 – 60 days 2,938 2,769

61 – 90 days 2,796 2,457

91 – 120 days 752 597

Over 120 days 5,172 6,687

30,476 30,786

21. DEPOSITS FOR ACQUISITIONS OF PROPERTIES

It represents deposits paid for the acquisitions of proper ties in Hong Kong and Shanghai. These transactions

had been completed after the balance sheet date (see note 39).
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22. AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY

THE GROUP:

Par ticulars of the amount due from a related company are as follows:

Maximum amount

outstanding

Name of related entity 2005 2004 during the year

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BIA Technology Limited – 809 809

Hong Kong Communications Holdings

Limited 1,016 1,016 1,016

1,016 1,825

The directors’ interests in the above-named companies are set out in note 37.

The amount due from a related company was unsecured, interest free and is repayable on demand.

23. CREDITORS AND ACCRUED CHARGES

The aged analysis of trade creditors of HK$23,115,000 (2004: HK$37,563,000) which are included in the

group’s creditors and accrued charges is as follows:

THE GROUP

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 21,371 34,996

31 – 60 days 893 365

61 – 90 days 851 2,202

23,115 37,563

24. OTHER DEPOSIT RECEIVED

On 8th December, 2004, the group entered into an agreement with an independent third par ty (“purchaser”)

to dispose of some of its investment proper ties and leasehold land and buildings at a cash consideration of

HK$180,000,000. A deposit of HK$18,000,000 was paid by the purchaser upon signing the said agreement.

This transaction had been completed after the balance sheet date (see note 39).
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25. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

THE GROUP

Present value of

Minimum lease payments minimum lease payments

2005 2004 2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts payable under

finance leases

Within one year 38 54 33 47

More than one year but not

exceeding two years 131 4 113 4

169 58 146 51

Less: Future finance charges (23) (7)

Present value of finance

leases 146 51

Less: Amount due for

settlement within one

year shown under

current liabilities (33) (47)

Amount due for settlement

after one year 113 4

26. BANK BORROWINGS

THE GROUP

2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank borrowings comprise:

Bank overdraft (unsecured) – 56

Bank loans (secured) 22,157 30,349

22,157 30,405
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26. BANK BORROWINGS — continued

The maturity of the bank borrowings is as follows:
THE GROUP

2005 2004
HK$’000 HK$’000

Due within one year 3,365 3,187
Due more than one year, but not exceeding two years 3,331 3,147
Due more than two years, but not exceeding five years 9,928 9,441
Due more than five years 5,533 14,630

22,157 30,405
Less: Amount due within one year shown under

current liabilities 3,365 3,187

Amount due after one year 18,792 27,218

27. DEFERRED TAX

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised and movements thereon during
the current and prior years:

Deferred tax liabilities:
THE GROUP

Revaluation
of leasehold

Accelerated land and
tax buildings

depreciation (note) Tax losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1st April, 2003 918 4,590 (260) 5,248
Charged/(credited) to
consolidated income

statement 254 – (115) 139
Charged to equity – 867 – 867

At 31st March, 2004 and
1st April, 2004 1,172 5,457 (375) 6,254

Charged/(credited) to
consolidated
income statement 535 – (188) 347

Credited to equity – (5,455) – (5,455)

At 31st March, 2005 1,707 2 (563) 1,146

Note: During the year, the group entered into an agreement with an independent third par ty to dispose of some of its

leasehold land and buildings (see note 24). The deferred tax is therefore recognised only to the extent of tax

payable arising from the disposal of these leasehold land and buildings.
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27. DEFERRED TAX — continued

Deferred tax assets:

THE GROUP

Deductible

temporary

differences

HK$’000

At 1st April, 2003 –

Credited to consolidated income statement 58

At 31st March, 2004 and 1st April, 2004 58

Charged to consolidated income statement (11)

At 31st March, 2005 47

At the balance sheet date , the group has unused tax losses of HK$20,995,000 (2004: HK$12,419,000)

available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of HK$3,219,000

(2004: HK$2,147,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining

HK$17,776,000 (2004: HK$10,272,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

At the balance sheet date , the company has unused tax losses of HK$1,616,000 (2004: HK$659,000)

available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability

of future profit streams.

The tax losses can be carried forward to offset against the taxable profits of subsequent years for up to 15

years from the year in which they were incurred or there is no restr iction on their expir y depending on the

tax jurisdiction concerned.



53
ANNUAL REPORT 2005

HKC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March, 2005

28. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares Amount

2005 2004 2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000

Ordinary shares of

HK$0.01 each

Authorised:

At beginning of the year

and at end of the year 2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000 20,000 20,000

Issued and fully paid:

At beginning of the year 449,637,603 434,825,306 4,496 4,348

Issued pursuant to scrip

dividend scheme for

2003 final dividend – 14,812,297 – 148

Exercise of share options 11,136,000 – 112 –

At end of the year 460,773,603 449,637,603 4,608 4,496

During the year ended 31st March, 2005, cer tain directors of the company and the employees of the group

exercised all the options granted to them to subscr ibe for ordinary share of HK$0.01 each. Details of the

company’s share option scheme are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted by a written resolution passed on 23rd

October, 2001 for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to selected par ticipants for their contribution

to the group. Under the Scheme, the directors may, at their discretion, invite any person belonging to any of

the following classes of par ticipants, to take up options to subscribe for shares of the company.

(i) any eligible employee of the company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested Entity”);

(ii) any non-executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the company, any of its

subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(iii) any supplier of goods or ser vices to any member of the group or any Invested Entity;

(iv) any customer of the group or any Invested Entity;

(v) any person or entity that provides research, development or other technological suppor t to the group

or any Invested Entity;

(vi) any shareholder of any member of the group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities

issued by any member of the group or any Invested Entity; and
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME — continued

(vii) any other group or classes of par ticipants from time to time determined by the director as having

contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement

to the development and growth of the group.

and for the purposes of the Scheme, the options may be granted to any company wholly-owned by one or

more persons belonging to any of the above classes of par ticipants. For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of

any options by the company for the subscription of shares of the company or other securities of the group

to any person who fall within any of the above classes of par ticipants shall not, by itself, unless the directors

otherwise determined, be construed as a grant of option under the Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the above class of par ticipants to the grant of any options shall be determined by the

directors from time to time.

An option may be accepted by a par ticipant upon payment of HK$1 per option and within such time as may

be specified in the offer for grant of the option, which shall not be later than 21 days of the date of the offer.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period to be

determined and notified by the directors at the time of such grant to each grantee, which period may

commence on the date of acceptance of the offer for the grant of option but shall end in any event not later

than 10 years from the date of grant of the option subject to the provisions of ear ly termination thereof.

The subscription price for shares under the Scheme shall be a pr ice determined by the directors, but shall

not be less than the higher of (i) the closing pr ice of shares as stated in daily quotations sheet of the Stock

Exchange on the date of the offer for grant; (ii) the average closing price of shares as stated in the Stock

Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer of

grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and

yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share option scheme of the group must not in

aggregate exceed 30% of the relevant class of secur ities of the company (or any of its subsidiaries) in issue

from time to time. The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the

Scheme and any other share option scheme of the group shall not exceed 10% of the shares of the

company in issue as at the date of which dealing in the shares of the company on the Stock Exchange ,

without prior approval from the company’s shareholders. The number of shares in respect of which options

may be granted to any par ticipant in any 12 month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of

the company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the company’s shareholders. Options

granted to directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders of the company or any of their respective

associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) must be approved by independent non-executive directors of

the company (excluding any independent non-executive director who is the grantee of the options). Options

granted to substantial shareholder s or independent non- executive directors or any of their respective

associates in the 12 month per iod up to and including the date of such grant in excess of 0.1% of the shares

of the company in issue and with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the

company’s shareholders.



55
ANNUAL REPORT 2005

HKC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March, 2005

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME — continued

At 31st March, 2005, the number of shares in respect of which options had been gr anted, and yet to be

exercised, under the scheme was 3,860,000 (2004: 13,300,000), representing 1% (2004: 3%) of shares of the

company in issue at that date.

No charge is recognised in the consolidated income statement in respect of the value of option gr anted in

the year.

The directors are of the view that the value of the theoretical value of the share options gr anted during the

year depends on a number of variables which are either difficult to ascer tain or can only be ascer tained on a

number of theoretical basis and speculative assumptions. Accordingly, the directors believed that any calculation

of the value of options will not be meaningful and may be misleading to shareholders in the circumstances.

Movements in the options to subscr ibe for shares for the year ended 31st March, 2005 are as follows:

Outstanding Outstanding

Exercise at Lapsed Granted Exercised at

Exercisable price per 1st April, during during during 31st March,

period share 2004 the year the year the year 2005

HK$

Directors:

Chan Chung Yee, 21.2.2003 – 0.17 4,300,000 – – (4,300,000 ) –

Huber t 20.2.2005

Chan Chung Yin, 21.2.2003 – 0.17 2,000,000 – – (2,000,000 ) –

Roy 20.2.2005

Chan Man Min 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 – – (1,000,000 ) –

20.2.2005

Chan Ming Him, 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 – – (1,000,000 ) –

Denny 20.2.2005

Kwok Cheuk 21.2.2003 – 0.17 2,000,000 (2,000,000 ) – – –

Tim, Rockie 20.2.2005

Tsui Hon Wing 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 – – (1,000,000 ) –

20.2.2005

Wu Kwok Lam 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 (1,000,000 ) – – –

20.2.2005

Yeh Yui Fong 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 – – (1,000,000 ) –

20.2.2005

13,300,000 (3,000,000 ) – (10,300,000 ) –

Employees 4.11.2004 – 0.196 – – 4,696,000 (836,000 ) 3,860,000

3.5.2006

13,300,000 (3,000,000 ) 4,696,000 (11,136,000 ) 3,860,000
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME — continued

Movements in the options to subscr ibe for shares for the year ended 31st March, 2004 are as follows:

Outstanding Outstanding

Exercise  at Lapsed Granted at

Exercisable price per 1st April, during during 31st March,

period share 2003 the year the year 2004

HK$

Directors:

Chan Chung Yee, 21.2.2003 – 0.17 4,300,000 – – 4,300,000

Huber t 20.2.2005

Chan Chung Yin, 21.2.2003 – 0.17 2,000,000 – – 2,000,000

Roy 20.2.2005

Chan Man Min 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000

20.2.2005

Chan Ming Him, 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000

Denny 20.2.2005

Kwok Cheuk Tim, 21.2.2003 – 0.17 2,000,000 – – 2,000,000

Rockie 20.2.2005

Tsui Hon Wing 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000

20.2.2005

Wu Kwok Lam 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000

20.2.2005

Yeh Yui Fong 21.2.2003 – 0.17 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000

20.2.2005

13,300,000 – – 13,300,000

Employees 23.5.2002 – 0.38 3,800,000 (3,800,000) – –

23.11.2004

Customers 23.5.2002 – 0.38 6,500,000 (6,500,000) – –

30.6.2003

23,600,000 (10,300,000) – 13,300,000
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30. RESERVES

THE GROUP

The amounts of the group’s reser ves and the movements therein for the current and pr ior years are

presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 26 of the annual repor t.

THE COMPANY

Share Special Retained

premium reserve profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1st April, 2003 27,239 163,453 408 191,100

Shares issued pursuant to scrip

dividend scheme 2,296 – – 2,296

Net profit for the year – – 9,601 9,601

Dividend paid – – (4,348) (4,348)

At 31st March, 2004 29,535 163,453 5,661 198,649

Exercise of share option 1,804 – – 1,804

Net profit for the year – – 9,175 9,175

Dividend paid – – (4,496) (4,496)

At 31st March, 2005 31,339 163,453 10,340 205,132

The special reser ve of the company represents the difference between the aggregate net assets of the

subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group Reorganisation over the nominal value of the company’s shares

issued for the acquisition prior to the listing of the company’s shares in 2001.

The company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share premium, special reserve and retained

profits. Under the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the company is available for

paying distributions or dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of Memorandum and Ar ticles of

Association and provided that immediately following the distribution or dividend the company is able to pay

its debt as they fall due in the ordinar y course of business. The company’s reserves available for distributions

to shareholders as at 31st March, 2005 amounted to HK$205,132,000 (2004: HK$198,649,000).
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31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital expenditure

Contracted for but not

provided in the financial

statements:

– Acquisitions of investment

properties 58,318 – – –

– Acquisitions of proper ty,

plant and equipment 157 170 – –

58,475 170 – –

32. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The group as lessee:

At the balance sheet date , the group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments

under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

THE GROUP

2005 2004
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 764 1,258

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 420 753

1,184 2,011

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the group for its office premises and shops. Leases

are negotiated for terms ranging from two to five years. In addition to the minimum rental payments

disclosed above, the group has commitments to pay additional rent of a propor tion of turnover for cer tain

leased shops if the turnover generated from these leased shops exceed the predetermined levels. Contingent

rentals are not included in the above commitments as it is not possible to estimate the amounts which may

be payable.

The group as lessor:

Proper ty rental income earned during the year was HK$1,607,000 (2004: HK$3,278,000). The proper ties

held have committed tenants in the range from one to three years.
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32. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS — continued

At the balance sheet date, the group had contracted with tenants for the following minimum lease receivable

under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

THE GROUP

2005 2004
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 408 736
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 211 619

619 1,355

33. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

a) Acquisition of subsidiaries:

2005 2004
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net liabilities acquired:
Proper ty, plant and equipment – 1,104
Inventories – 2,183
Debtors, deposits and prepayments – 976
Amounts due from related companies – 1,150
Bank balances and cash – 611
Creditors and accrued charges – (7,892)
Bank borrowings – (88)
Taxation payable – (32)

– (1,988)
Goodwill on acquisition – 4,288

– 2,300

Satisfied by:
Cash consideration – 300
Reclassification from investments in

securities – 2,000

– 2,300

Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the acquisition of subsidiar ies is as follows:

Cash consideration – (300)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired – 611
Bank borrowings acquired – (88)

– 223
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33. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT — continued

b) Non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31st March, 2005, the group entered into finance lease arrangements in respect

of assets with a total capital value at the inception of the contr act of HK$161,000. However, no such

finance lease arrangement was made by the group during the year ended 31st March, 2004.

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2005 2004 2005 2004

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Banking facilities to

subsidiaries in respect

of which guarantees

were given – – 86,740 96,740

Credit facilities from third

par ties in respect of which

guarantees were given 40,000 40,000 – –

Corporate guarantee to an

independent landlord in

respect of shop premises

leased to a subsidiar y – – 160 600

40,000 40,000 86,900 97,340

35. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31st March, 2005, cer tain leasehold land and buildings and investment proper ties with aggregate carrying

values of HK$4,360,000 (2004: HK$4,170,000) and HK$65,740,000 (2004: HK$55,000,000) respectively were

pledged to banks to secure general banking facilities granted to the group. At 31st March, 2004, the group’s

bank deposits of HK$280,000 were pledged to banks to secure the performance bonds. No such bank

deposits were pledged at 31st March, 2005.

36. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

(a) The subsidiar y in Singapore par ticipates in the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by

the government of Singapore, whereby the group is required to contr ibute to the scheme to fund the

retirement benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions made to the scheme are calculated based

on 16% of the applicable payroll costs. The only obligation of the group with respect to the retirement

benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

(b) The subsidiar y in Thailand par ticipates in the state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by

the government of Thailand, whereby the group is required to contr ibute to the scheme to fund the

retirement benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions made to the scheme are calculated based

on 5% of the applicable payroll costs. The only obligation of the group with respect to the retirement

benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.
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36. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES — continued
(c) The subsidiar y in Malaysia par ticipates in a state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the

government of Malaysia, whereby the group is required to contr ibute to the scheme to fund the
retirement benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions made to the scheme are calculated based
on 12% of the applicable payroll costs. The only obligation of the group with respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

(d) Employees which are employed by subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement
benefits scheme operated by the PRC government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute 36.5%
of payroll costs to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the group
with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contr ibutions under the
scheme.

(e) The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF scheme”) for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The group is required to contr ibute 5% to 10%, while the employees are required to
contribute 5% of their salaries to the MPF scheme.

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the year, the group had the following transactions, which were conducted in the ordinar y course of
the group’s business, with its related companies:

2005 2004
Name of related company Notes Nature of transactions HK$’000 HK$’000

HKC Intown Limited (i) Internet access fee paid 114 80

Hong Kong Communications (i) Computer software
Computer Company Limited maintenance fee and

purchase of computer
hardwares 362 502

(ii) Rental income 180 221
Repairs and maintenance

fees paid – 10

BIA Technology Limited (i) Purchase of goods from 3,362 1,695
Sales of goods to – 32

(ii) Rental income 36 36
Purchase of plant and

machinery – 987

Koywa HKC Company Limited (iii) Rental expenses 79 –

Mr. Chan Chung Yin, Roy, director of the company, has beneficial interest in all the above-named companies.

Messrs. Chan Chung Yee, Huber t and Chan Man Min, directors of the company, have beneficial interest in
Hong Kong Communications Computer Company Limited, BIA Technology Limited and Koywa HKC Company
Limited.

Mr. Chan Min Him, Denny, director of the company, has beneficial interest in Koywa HKC Company Limited.
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS — continued

Messrs. Tsui Hon Wing and Yeh Yui Fong, directors of the company, have beneficial interests in BIA Technology

Limited.

Details of balances with related companies are set out in note 22 to the f inancial statements.

Notes:

(i) The transactions are based on cost plus a percentage of profit mark-up.

(ii) Rental income was charged based on the area used, which management considered to be an appropr iate basis of

allocation.

(iii) Rental expense was charged at prevailing market rates.

38. SUBSIDIARIES

Par ticulars of the subsidiaries as at 31st March, 2005 are as follows:

Issued and Percentage of
fully paid effective

Place of Principal ordinary/ interest
incorporation/ place of registered attributable

Name registration operation share capital to the Group Principal activities

HKC Group Limited British Virgin Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% Investment holding

Islands US$100,000

HKC Proper ties British Virgin Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% Investment holding

Limited Islands US$30

Superior Charm British Virgin Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% Investment holding

Limited Islands US$1,200

Hong Kong Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% Sales and distribution

Communications HK$10,560 of mobile phones

Equipment Company and business

Limited solutions

Circle Mobile Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% Sales of mobile phones

Communications HK$1,000,000 and other electronic

Limited products

Generalvestor (H.K.) Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% Proper ty investment

Limited HK$10,000,000

HKC Technology Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% Research and

Limited HK$6,000,100 development

HKC International Thailand Thailand Ordinary shares 100% Sales and distribution

(Thailand) Limited THB3,000,000 of mobile phones
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38. SUBSIDIARIES — continued

Issued and Percentage of
fully paid effective

Place of Principal ordinary/ interest
incorporation/ place of registered attributable

Name registration operation share capital to the Group Principal activities

Singapore The Republic Singapore Ordinary shares 100% Sales and distribution

Communications of Singapore S$160,000 of business solutions

Equipment Co. (Pte)

Ltd.

Circle Communication United States United States Ordinary shares 100% Sales and distribution of

Products, Inc. of America of America US$15,000 telecommunication

products

HKC International (M) Malaysia Malaysia Ordinary shares 100% Sales and distribution

SDN BHD RM250,000 of mobile phones

and its related

accessories

上海希華通訊科技 PRC PRC Registered capital 100% Sales and distribution

有限公司  (note 1) US$550,000 of business solutions

(HKC Technology

(Shanghai) Limited)

亞衛通智能系統 PRC PRC Registered capital 80% Development and sales

(上海)有限公司 US$610,000 of telecommunication

(Note 2) system and other

(ASCT Technology high-tech products

Co. Ltd.)

The company directly holds the interest in HKC Group Limited. All other interests shown above are

indirectly held by the company.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting as at 31st March, 2005 or at any time during the

year.

Note 1: The subsidiar y is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

Note 2: The subsidiar y is a sino-foreign owned enterprise.

39. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to the balance sheet date , the group had completed the acquisitions of investment proper ties in

Hong Kong and Shanghai at total cash consideration of HK$69,715,741 (see note 21).

On 8th April, 2005, the group had also completed the disposal of some of its investment proper ties and

leasehold land and buildings with a total carrying value of HK$140,590,000 to an independent third par ty at

a cash consideration of HK$180,000,000 (see note 24). Profit arising from this disposal is estimated to be

HK$63,000,000.
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2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

RESULTS

Turnover 739,544 726,717 821,405 954,137 974,056

Profit before taxation 45,694 26,050 13,482 1,561 19,089

Tax expense (7,599) (3,668) (2,708) (1,340) (7,239)

Profit before minority

interests 38,095 22,382 10,774 221 11,850

Minority interests (3,770) (1,470) 93 302 150

Net profit for the year 34,325 20,912 10,867 523 12,000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets 170,695 232,722 276,980 276,492 321,978

Total liabilities (32,010) (33,665) (83,628) (80,994) (82,304)

Minority interests (14,227) – (378) (557) (407)

Equity 124,458 199,057 192,974 194,941 239,267
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Location Type Lease term

The whole of Nos. 51 and 53 Residential and commercial Long lease

Hennessy Road

(also known as Luen Sun Building)

Wanchai

Hong Kong

The whole of 3rd, 4th, 10th, 12th, 15th, Commercial Long lease

17th, 22nd, 24th Floor and 3/8 of 11th Floor

Nos. 55 and 57 Hennessy Road

(also known as Communications Building)

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Block B on 14th Floor Industrial Long lease

Vita Tower

No. 29 Wong Chuk Hang Road

Wong Chuk Hang

Hong Kong

Workshop 05 on 5th Floor Industrial Medium-term lease

Kwong Sang Hong Centre

Nos. 151-153 Hoi Bun Road

Kwun Tong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

PARTICULARS OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
As at 31st March, 2005
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Location Type Lease term

The whole of G/F, 1st, 2nd, 5th, 6th, 7th,, 8th, Commercial Long lease

9th, 16th, 18th, 19th, 20th, 21st, 23rd Floor

and 5/8 of 11th Floor

Nos. 55 and 57 Hennessy Road

(also known as Communications Building)

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Block A on 14th Floor Industrial Long lease

Vita Tower

No. 29 Wong Chuk Hang Road

Wong Chuk Hang

Hong Kong

The whole of the strata unit #02-09 Industrial Long lease

Kewalram House

No. 8, Jalan Kilang

Timor

Singapore

PARTICULARS OF LEASEHOLD LAND
AND BUILDINGS
As at 31st March, 2005
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